University of Alabama in Huntsville

Honors Capstone Projects and Theses

Honors College

12-1-2023

Vessel Strike Prevention Measures for Marine Animals and their Effectiveness

Brock Garrison Busby

Follow this and additional works at: https://louis.uah.edu/honors-capstones

Recommended Citation

Busby, Brock Garrison, "Vessel Strike Prevention Measures for Marine Animals and their Effectiveness" (2023). *Honors Capstone Projects and Theses*. 850. https://louis.uah.edu/honors-capstones/850

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Honors College at LOUIS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Capstone Projects and Theses by an authorized administrator of LOUIS.

Vessel Strike Prevention Measures for Marine Animals and Their Effectiveness

by

Brock Garrison Busby

An Honors Capstone

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the Honors Certificate

to

The Honors College

of

The University of Alabama in Huntsville

12/01/23

Honors Capstone Project Director: Dr. Matthew Niemiller

Brock Busby

12/01/23

Student

Date

12/01/2023

Mosth

Project Director

Date

12/01/2023

Paul H.

Department Chair

Date

Honors College Dean

Date



Honors College
Frank Franz Hall
+1 (256) 824-6450 (voice)
+1 (256) 824-7339 (fax)
honors@uah.edu

Honors Thesis Copyright Permission

This form must be signed by the student and submitted with the final manuscript.

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for Honors Diploma or Certificate from The University of Alabama in Huntsville, I agree that the Library of this University shall make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for extensive copying for scholarly purposes may be granted by my advisor or, in his/her absence, by the Chair of the Department, Director of the Program, or the Dean of the Honors College. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to The University of Alabama in Huntsville in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in this thesis.

Brock Busby

Student Name (printed)

Brock Busby

Student Signature

12/01/23

Date

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Introduction	4
Prevention Measures	6
- Propeller Guards	6
- Speed Reduction	6
- Vessel Traffic Rerouting	
- Onboard Observers	
- Acoustic Deterrents	9
- Mobile Phone Applications	10
- Mandatory Ship Reporting (MSR) Systems	
- Real-Time Plotting of Cetaceans System (REPCET)	11
- Early Warning System (EWS)	
Conclusion	14
References	16

Abstract

The threat of vessel strikes on larger marine species continues to grow each year with the species affected ranging from sea turtles to whales. Injuries to the impacted animals can be fatal, which is particularly alarming for conservation efforts as many of these species are at greater extinction risk and listed on the IUCN Red List. To combat the issue of vessels striking marine animals, several efforts have been introduced; however, their effectiveness varies or is unknown. Published literature on the mitigation efforts targeting vessel strikes can be difficult to find as it is scattered and focuses primarily on large marine species. Some of the reports explain these efforts in detail and others investigate their impact on certain species. Here I review the existing literature on proposed mitigation efforts and their effectiveness to reduce vessel strikes on marine fauna. More research is needed to determine the true effectiveness of some of these efforts and more measures should be implemented to address the growing issue of vessel strikes.

Introduction

Maritime traffic has grown dramatically with time, with a study by J. Tournadre noting a four-fold increase from 1992 to 2014 [36]. Vessel traffic will only continue to grow with some models estimating an increase of 240 to 1,209% by 2050 [29]. This trend may appear alarming not only due to the environmental impacts of marine vessels, such as greenhouse gas emissions or garbage pollution, but also due to the possible increased incidence of vessels striking marine organisms [42]. These collisions can cause blunt force injuries or deep lacerations in marine animals that may result in death in addition to severely damaging vessels and injuring humans onboard [30, 37].

Vessel strikes are a threat to several species of marine vertebrates. A study by Ataman et al. on nesting loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in Florida found that out of 60 specifically identified injuries, 75% were the result of a boat strike [1]. Florida manatees (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*) are also threatened by vessel strikes with impacts by watercraft accounting for 25% of deaths recorded from 1979 to 2004 and many bear the scars of at least one strike [22, 28]. Impacts by watercraft are the top source of anthropogenic injury and death for Florida manatees [17]. One of the largest threats facing whale populations in the modern day aside from net entanglement is vessel strikes [25]. Whale species like the blue (*Balaenoptera musculus*), humpback (*Megaptera novaeangliae*), and fin (*B. physalus*) whale see vessel strikes as a major cause of death off the United States West Coast [26]. Vessel strikes can often go unnoticed if the vessel is of significant size and may also be underreported for several reasons such as fear of reprisal [25]. These strikes pose a threat to the populations of several marine vertebrates, many of which are in danger of extinction and the true impact on some species may not be known due to their rapid healing [19, 44].

Marine animal behavior can put them in the path of oncoming vessels. Florida manatees are difficult to spot when surfacing and inhabit areas with poor water clarity. Sea turtles spend much of their time in nearshore shallow water to breathe, reproduce, and feed. Whales must surface to breathe, and, in the case of the rare Gulf of Mexico Bryde's whale (*Balaenoptera edeni*), it spends much of its time at night near the surface [10, 22, 35]. Due to marine animals' normal behavior putting them at risk of collision and their increasing risk of conflict with growing vessel traffic, methods intended to prevent the occurrence of strikes or reduce the severity of injuries to an organism are required. This paper will review several mitigation measures that have been implemented to prevent or reduce the severity of vessel strikes on marine organisms and their effectiveness.

Prevention Measures

Propeller Guards

One measure to reduce the severity of a vessel strike on marine fauna is the employment of a propeller guard. Propeller guards are often advocated to protect cetaceans like whales but this measure is not perfect [2, 38]. While the effectiveness of propeller guards on watercraft striking whales has never been tested, Work et al. used artificial carapaces to test the effectiveness of two commercial propeller guards in reducing the severity of small vessel strike injuries on loggerhead sea turtles [30, 48]. The two guards proved somewhat effective at idle speed but were completely ineffective at planing speed [48]. At planing speed, using the two guards resulted in catastrophic damage to the animal model just as it did when using an outboard motor with no guard over the propeller [48]. While the guards offer some protection from the propeller, the area of the motor foot increases with their use [48]. The carapace was not damaged when using an inboard or outboard jet motor at both idle and planing speeds, however [48]. The effectiveness of propeller guards appears to be slim, so they are best used in addition to other mitigation measures [23].

Speed Reduction

Reducing vessel speed is a simple mitigation strategy that can better protect smaller species like turtles and manatees. Sea turtles react to approaching smaller vessels by immediately moving away from the vessel's track or initially moving across or in line with the vessel's track before moving away [14]. Sea turtles also flee vessels less frequently as vessel speed increases with the most reliable response occurring with boats traveling at 4 km/h, much slower than what is typical on open water [14]. The severity of injuries on marine species decreases at lower speeds with the occurrence of catastrophic wounds on model loggerhead turtles falling from 100% at planing speed to 40% at idle speed in an experiment by Work et al. [48]. Florida manatees react to approaching boats by increasing their swimming speed and moving toward deeper water. Nowacek et al. found that a vessel's speed was not a significant factor in causing this response [22]. The researchers also concluded that slower vessel speeds could allow manatees sufficient time to move away from approaching boats as the manatees often reacted when a vessel was within 25–50m [22]. Slower vessel speed not only gives manatees a longer time to react but also increases the reaction time of vessel operators to signs of manatees allowing them to stop or alter course [3]. Slower vessel speeds can reduce the severity of blunt force injuries since the impact force is affected by a vessel's speed [3].

Speed reduction of vessels can also benefit larger creatures such as whales by decreasing the number of deaths. In 2016–2017 following the implementation of voluntary Vessel Speed Reductions in shipping routes off San Francisco, California, the number of deaths of humpback whales decreased by 9–10% while blue whale deaths decreased by 11–13% [27]. Rockwood et al. [27] found that if 95% of mariners followed a 10-knot speed limit within the shipping lanes, three times as many humpback whale deaths and twice as many blue whale deaths could be avoided. The North Atlantic right whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*) is extremely vulnerable to vessel strikes due to its small population, but Conn and Silber estimated that a 10-knot speed limit reduced the mortality risk of vessel strikes by 80–90% [5].

Speed restrictions effectively reduce vessel strike mortalities, but their status as voluntary or mandatory impacts their success. Boaters in Florida responded favorably to questionaries regarding the use of go-slow zones to protect sea turtles [10]. Off the coast of southern California, average vessel speed did not decrease, nor did vessels travel at or below the requested 10 knots [20]. The daily average speeds were also not reduced during the voluntary conservation program [20]. This is not always the case as mariners traveling around the Roseway Basin Area on the Scotian Shelf reached a voluntary compliance rate of 71% within the first five months of implementation [41]. Vanderlaan and Taggart estimated this level of compliance to reduce the risk of lethal vessel strikes to North Atlantic right whales by 82% [41]. Speed restrictions are a simple and effective way to address the issue of vessel strike mortality, though low compliance with these programs can reduce their effectiveness.

Vessel Traffic Rerouting

Marine animals can be protected by separating vessel traffic from the location of different species. In 2014, the International Maritime Organization (IMO) adopted a Traffic Separation Scheme (TSS) to reduce encounters between ships and whales near Panama [12]. Implementing the TSS with a 10-knot speed limit was expected to reduce the number of vessel strikes by 93% [13]. Almost 90% of vessels complied with the TSS but very few complied with the recommended 10-knot speed limit [12]. The high compliance of mariners to the areas to be avoided (ATBA) and the speed reductions around the Roseway Basin Area were estimated to reduce the risk of lethal strikes to North Atlantic right whales by 82% [41]. Similarly, the use of a TSS in the Bay of Fundy could reduce the risk of lethal collisions with right whales by 62% according to Vanderlaan et al. [40], a 10% higher reduction than simply employing a 10-knot speed restriction. From a conservation perspective, rerouting vessels could be preferable to simply recommending speed restrictions because the rerouting of vessels lowers the possibility of a ship striking a whale rather than simply reducing the risk of a lethal strike [39].

Onboard Observers

Dedicated onboard observers placed on vessels can alert crews when organisms like whales are present [8]. The United States Coast Guard even requires a trained marine mammal lookout on any of its vessels traveling within 20 nautical miles of shore or through critical habitats [8]. As recommended by the Whale and Dolphin Conservation Society, the observers should not be the sole preventive measure for ship strikes as their ability to detect whales can be hindered by vessel speed or environmental conditions [8]. A high-speed vessel traveling 38 knots would reach a whale at 200 m in just 10 seconds [43]. The practice is not always effective as Wiley et al. noted two incidences of noncommercial vessels with little reaction time striking North Atlantic right whales with marine mammal observers onboard [47]. The practice can, however, provide some protection to marine species. An observer placed onboard ferries near Massachusetts spotted whales first in 56.4% of cases, much higher than other crew members, and more often spotted whales at distances of over 400 m [43]. A study by Flynn and Calambokidis of observers placed onboard cargo vessels found that despite some initial skepticism by ship personnel, crews cooperated and assisted in sighting whales voluntarily [9].

Acoustic Deterrents

One strategy to prevent a collision between a ship and a marine organism that has been given little attention is acoustic deterrents. It is theorized that whales may not react to approaching vessels due to various reasons such as high levels of ambient noise in an area or the 'Lloyd Mirror effect,' where low-frequency sound is reduced or canceled at the surface, especially when the source is close [8]. Acoustic deterrents have been proposed as a mitigation measure to vessel strikes, but their effectiveness varies. In one experiment, 95% of manatees were found to exhibit an avoidance response when exposed to an underwater parametric alarm and reacted at a distance over three times greater than observed during alarm-off trials [11]. Loggerhead sea turtles were found to have a mild, aversive response to a simulated acoustic deterrent device [24]. Little consideration has been given to acoustic alerting signals due to knowledge gaps in their effectiveness and the potential for habituation and causing disturbance

[6]. The reactions of marine animals to acoustic deterrents could sometimes increase the risk of collision. North Atlantic right whales showed no reaction to approaching vessels in a study by Nowacek et al. [21], but when researchers exposed the whales to an acoustic alert, the whales reacted strongly by surfacing.

Mobile Phone Applications

Mobile phone applications are a recent technology that could reduce vessel strikes on marine animals. The application "Whale Alert" displays a ship's current location, seasonal management areas of whales, mandatory ship reporting areas, and areas to be avoided [46]. It also allows users to input sightings of whales or even report injured whales to authorities [45]. "Whale Alert" is used in the California Current sanctuaries, the Boston Channel, and southeast Alaska [4]. The effectiveness of applications like "Whale Alert" in reducing vessel strikes is unknown, but there is potential for their use [30].

Mandatory Ship Reporting (MSR) Systems

The Mandatory Ship Reporting (MSR) system aims to increase mariners' awareness of the risk of vessel strikes on whales [34]. The system requires mariners onboard vessels 300 tons or greater to report their vessel name, call sign, speed, course, location, route, and destination to a shore-based station [34]. After doing this, mariners receive an automated message consisting of the locations of the most recent (less than 24 hours) right whale sightings and information on sources describing avoidance procedures [34]. The message can also describe any additional regulations aimed at preventing strikes on whales such as speed restrictions [33]. The system ensures that mariners receive the most current information in real-time. Two MSR locations were created when the system was implemented in 1999 and they are placed in locations where and when right whale sightings are known to occur [33]. The first, off the coast of Massachusetts,

operates year-round, while the second, off the coast of Georgia and Florida, only operates from November 15 through April 15 [33]. The message from the MSR is advisory, and mariners are only required to report to the system, meaning that mariners can choose not to alter their actions based on the presence of right whales [34]. Silber et al. [33] found that between 1999 and 2013, mariners onboard most ships of 300 tons or greater did report to the MSR and traveled 10–16 knots, though the average speed decreased following speed restrictions around 2009. Despite the MSR system being in place, right whales off of Georgia and Florida continued to be killed, leading to the proposal for vessel speed restrictions and alternative routes in 2004 [16]. A 10-knot speed restriction would eventually become mandatory with a higher compliance rate compared to the voluntary speed reduction and the recommended alternative routes would also see high compliance [16]. The MSR system is not in itself an effective mitigation measure, but it is an effective education and outreach tool as hundreds of messages concerning the vulnerability of marine animals to vessel strikes are sent directly to ships each year [15, 33].

Real-Time Plotting of Cetaceans System (REPCET)

The Real-Time Plotting of Cetaceans System (REPCET) is a computer system database with a centralized server on shore and clients in the form of subscribed commercial ships [18]. By sharing reports of sightings, the system aims to reduce vessel strikes to observed whale species [7]. Observations of whales are transmitted to land-based servers via satellite where the data is centralized and sent to other REPCET-equipped ships [7]. The observations are mapped on a dedicated screen onboard vessels where observations can be quickly entered into the system [7]. The screen displays the position of the observation in addition to an area surrounding this point where the risk of encountering the individual animal is high [7]. The position of the observation remains marked for 24 hours to serve as a warning to mariners to remain vigilant [7].

The system offers many advantages as only authorized ships can view the location of the whales, preventing exploitation from whale-watching or whaling vessels [7]. The system also allows for the reporting of smaller cetaceans and floating objects that could be potential collision hazards [7]. Another advantage of the REPCET system is that it encourages collaboration between shipping companies and the research and conservation efforts taking place in the Marine Protected Areas where the system is implemented [18]. The REPCET is a cost-effective solution for addressing the issue of vessel strikes [32]. In a study focused on ship strikes of the Mediterranean fin whale subpopulation, the efficiency of the REPCET system was estimated to rise to 19% if all vessels operating in the Pelagos Sanctuary used the technology [31]. This shows that the technology should be used in parallel with other mitigation measures to be truly effective [31].

Early Warning System (EWS)

Off the coast of Georgia and Florida, right whales arrive in December to give birth [49]. Their presence in this location makes them vulnerable to strikes from ships. In 1994, the Early Warning System (EWS) was developed, and it operated by using aerial surveys that would report the locations of right whales in the calving grounds to all mariners in the area [49]. The aerial surveys offered additional benefits such as photographing right whales for later identification and using the data obtained on the flights to better understand right whale habitat, distribution, and reproduction [49]. Following its implementation, the EWS did not stop vessels from colliding with and mortality wounding right whales [16]. Aerial surveys also attempted to gather data from ships' Automatic Identification System (AIS) to assess the risk to right whales from vessels, but there are issues with using AIS for this purpose [16]. AIS is not required on military or smaller vessels and the data can only be collected by aerial surveys in clear weather [16]. This is no

evidence that aerial surveys like the EWS are effective in preventing vessel strikes and this method is highly dependent on weather conditions and the radio equipment a vessel carries as smaller vessels are likely less equipped [30].

Conclusion

The number of vessels traversing the ocean continues to increase, posing a threat to a variety of marine species ranging from turtles to whales. Many of the impacted species are vulnerable and the animals themselves may behave in ways that increase the likelihood of a strike [10, 22, 44]. These collisions can prove fatal, especially at higher speeds [48]. Vessels can also be damaged and crews can be injured in these strikes [37]. Several measures have been used to prevent or lower the severity of vessel strikes, though their effectiveness varies or is unknown. The most effective measures to prevent vessel strikes are reducing speed and rerouting vessels with animals suffering less catastrophic injuries when struck, reacting in time to properly avoid ships, and not encountering ships traveling through alternative routes [3, 5, 22, 39, 48]. The effectiveness of combining these measures can be seen in the observed or estimated risk of vessel strikes in the TSS and ATBA near Panama, the Roseway Basin Area, and the Bay of Fundy, but it is important to recognize that rerouting must be done carefully to not impact other species [13, 39-41]. Some other measures may prove somewhat effective such as propeller guards, onboard observers, the MSR system, and the REPCET system [15, 31, 43, 48]. Propeller guards, though, are only effective at idle speeds, observations by onboard observers can be affected by vessel speed or poor weather conditions, the MSR system is more effective as an educational outreach tool, and the REPCET system is most effective when paired with other prevention measures [8, 15, 31, 48]. Prevention measures like acoustic deterrents, mobile phone applications, and the EWS are either ineffective or their effectiveness is unknown. Acoustic deterrents can potentially be effective on species like manatees, but the reactions of other species like right whales may put them at risk or the animal could experience negative effects like habituation or disturbance [6, 11, 21] On the other hand, the effectiveness of mobile phone applications, despite their potential,

have not been studied and no evidence exists for the effectiveness of the EWS, which heavily relies on a ship's radio equipment and weather conditions [30].

It is important to understand the effectiveness of these prevention measures as the risk continues to increase. More research is needed as much of the available literature focuses on speed reduction and vessel rerouting with little focus on additional measures that could prove promising such as mobile phone applications. There are also knowledge gaps in the literature for prevention measures that could protect smaller species as few studies focus on protecting sea turtles or manatees through means other than reducing speed or taking alternate routes [11, 48]. Vessel traffic is only expected to increase, and many vulnerable species will require action to be taken to protect them from this growing threat and these measures must be effective in reducing strikes.

References

- Ataman, A., Gainsbury, AM., Manire, CA., Hoffmann, SL., Page-Karjian, A., Hirsch, S., Cassil, D., Aoki, D., Fraser, K., Klingshirn, S., Stoll, J., & Perrault, J. (2021). Evaluating prevalence of external injuries on nesting loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* in southeastern Florida, USA. *Endangered Species Research*, 46, 137-146. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr01149.
- Avila, I., Ortega, L., Pretel, C., & Mayor, G. (2021). A decade of whale watching in an important tourist destination in the Pacific coast of Colombia: Challenges for proper management. *Latin American Journal of Aquatic Mammals*, 16(1), 23-32.

https://doi.org/10.5597/lajam00267.

- Calleson, CS., & Kipp Frohlich, R. (2007). Slower boat speeds reduce risks to manatees. *Endangered Species Research*, *3*, 295-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00056</u>.
- Cates, K., Demaster, D., Brownell, R., Gende, S., Ritter, F., & Panigada, S. (2016). Strategic Plan to Mitigate the Impacts of Ship Strikes on Cetacean Populations: 2017-2020.
- Conn, P., & Silber, G. (2013). Vessel speed restrictions reduce risk of collision-related mortality for North Atlantic right whales. *Ecosphere*, 4(4), Article 43. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ES13-00004.1</u>.
- Coram, A., Gordon, J., Thompson, D., & Northridge, S. (2014). Evaluating and assessing the relative effectiveness of non-lethal measures, including Acoustic Deterrent Devices, on marine mammals. National Library of Scotland.

http://www.nls.uk/scotgov/2014/9781784128739.pdf.

- Couvat, J., & Gambaiani, D. (2013). Evaluation of the technical solutions and management measures implemented at the international level to reduce the risks of collisions between ships and large cetaceans. *Souffleurs d'Ecume*.
- 8. Dolman, S., Williams-Grey, V., Asmutis-Silvia, R., & Isaac, S. (2006). Vessel Collisions and Cetaceans: What Happens If They Don't Miss the Boat. *A WDCS Science Report*.
- Flynn, K., & Calambokidis, J. (2019). Lessons From Placing an Observer on Commercial Cargo Ships Off the U.S. West Coast: Utility as an Observation Platform and Insight Into Ship Strike Vulnerability. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *6*, Article 501. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00501</u>.
- Fuentes, M., Meletis, Z., Wildermann, N., & Ware, M. (2021). Conservation interventions to reduce vessel strikes on sea turtles: A case study in Florida. *Marine Policy*, *128*, 104471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104471</u>.
- Gerstein, E., & Gerstein, A. (2017). Environmentally friendly parametric alarm for alerting marine mammals of approaching vessels. *The Journal of Acoustical Society of America*, 141(5), 3689-3689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.4988032</u>.
- Guzman, H., Hinojosa, N., & Kaiser, S. (2020). Ship's compliance with a traffic separation scheme and speed limit in the Gulf of Panama and implications for the risk to humpback whales. *Marine Policy*, *120*(2), Article 104113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2020.104113</u>.
- Guzman, H.M., Gomez, C.G., Guevara, C.A., & Kleivane, L. (2013). Potential vessel collisions with Southern Hemisphere humpback whales wintering off Pacific Panama. *Marine Mammal Science*, 29, 629-642.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2012.00605.x.

- Hazel, J., Lawler, I., Marsh, H., & Robson, S. (2007). Vessel speed increases collision risk for the green turtle *Chelonia mydas*. *Endangered Species Research*, *3*, 105-113. http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/esr003105.
- IWC., & ACCOBAMS. (2011). Document 5-08 Report of the Joint IWC-ACCOBAMS Workshop on Reducing Risk of Collisions between Vessels and Cetaceans. *Meeting Documents*.
- 16. Lagueux, K., Zani, M., Knowlton, A., & Kraus, S. (2011). Response by vessel operators to protection measures for right whales *Eubalaena glacialis* in the southeast US calving ground. *Endangered Species Research*, 14, 69-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00335</u>.
- Laist, D.W., & Shaw, C. (2006). Preliminary Evidence that Boat Speed Restrictions Reduce Deaths of Florida Manatees. *Marine Mammal Science*, 22(2), 472-479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2006.00027.x.</u>
- Mayol, P., Beaubrun, P., Capoulade, F., & Mugnier, P. (2008). Whale-Ship Collisions: Work and Outlook from a Team in the Pelagos Sanctuary, the Example of the REPCET Project. In *Proceedings of the 60th meeting of the International Whaling Commission* (IWC/60/CC9rev—Agenda item 4). IWC, Santiago.
- McGregor, F., Richardson, A. J., Armstrong, A. J., Armstrong, A. O., & Dudgeon, C. L. (2019). Rapid wound healing in a reef manta ray masks the extent of vessel strike. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(12), Article e0225681. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225681</u>.
- McKenna, M., Katz, S., Condit, C., & Walbridge, S. (2012). Response of Commercial Ships to a Voluntary Speed Reduction Measure: Are Voluntary Strategies Adequate for Mitigating Ship-Strike Risk? *Coastal Management*, 40(6), 634-650. https://doi.org/10.1080/08920753.2012.727749.

- Nowacek, D. P., Johnson, M. P., & Tyack, P. L. (2004). North Atlantic right whales (*Eubalaena glacialis*) ignore ships but respond to alerting stimuli. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 271*(1536), 227–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2570</u>.
- Nowacek, S., Wells, R., Owen, E., Speakman, T., Flamm, R., & Nowacek, D. (2004). Florida manatees, *Trichechus manatus latirostris*, respond to approaching vessels. *Biological Conservation*, *119*(4), 517-523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2003.11.020</u>.
- Papafitsoros, K., Panagopoulou, A., & Schofield, G. (2021). Social media reveals consistently disproportionate tourism pressure on a threatened marine vertebrate. *Animal Conservation, 24,* 568-579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12656</u>.
- 24. Piniak, W. (2012). Acoustic Ecology of Sea Turtles: Implications for Conservation.[Doctoral dissertation, Duke University]. Duke Dissertations.
- 25. Ransome, N., Loneragan, N. R., Medrano-González, L., Félix, F., & Smith, J. N. (2021). Vessel Strikes of Large Whales in the Eastern Tropical Pacific: A Case Study of Regional Underreporting. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *8*, Article 675245.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.675245.

- 26. Rockwood, R. C., Calambokidis, J., & Jahncke, J. (2017). High mortality of blue, humpback and fin whales from modeling of vessel collisions on the U.S. West Coast suggests population impacts and insufficient protection. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(8), Article e0183052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183052</u>.
- Rockwood, RC., Adams, J., Silber, G., & Jahncke, J. (2020). Estimating effectiveness of speed reduction measures for decreasing whale-strike mortality in a high-risk region. *Endangered Species Research*, 43, 145-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/esr01056</u>.

- Rommel, S.A., Costidis, A.M., Pitchford, T.D., Lightsey, J.D., Snyder, R.H., & Haubold, E.M. (2007). Forensic Methods for Characterizing Watercraft from Watercraft-Induced Wounds on the Florida Manatee (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*). *Marine Mammal Science*, 23(1), 110-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2006.00095.x</u>.
- Sardain, A., Sardain, E. & Leung, B. (2019). Global forecasts of shipping traffic and biological invasions to 2050. *Nature Sustainability*, *2*, 274–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0245-y</u>.
- 30. Schoeman, R., Patterson-Abrolat, C., & Plön, S. (2020). A Global Review of Vessel Collisions With Marine Animals. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, Article 292. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00292</u>.
- 31. Sèbe, M., David, L., Dhermain, F., Gourguet, S., Madon, B., Ody, D., Panigada, S., Peltier, H., & Pendleton, L. (2023). Estimating the impact of ship strikes on the Mediterranean fin whale subpopulation. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 237, Article 106485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2023.106485</u>.
- 32. Sèbe, M., Kontovas, C., Pendleton, L., & Gourguet. S. (2022). Cost-effectiveness of measures to reduce ship strikes: A case study on protecting the Mediterranean fin whale. *Science of The Total Environment*, 827, Article 154236.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154236.

- Silber, G. K., Adams, J. D., Asaro, M. J., Cole, T. V., Moore, K. S., Ward-Geiger, L. I., & Zoodsma, B. J. (2015). The right whale mandatory ship reporting system: a retrospective. *PeerJ*, 3, Article e866. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.866.
- 34. Silber, G., & Bettridge, S. (2012). An assessment of the final rule to implement vessel speed restrictions to reduce the threat of vessel collisions with North Atlantic right whales. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-OPR-48, 114.

- 35. Soldevilla, MS., Hildebrand, JA., Frasier, KE., Dias, L., Martinez, A., Mullin, K., Rosel, P., & Garrison, L. (2017). Spatial distribution and dive behavior of Gulf of Mexico Bryde's whales: potential risk of vessel strikes and fisheries interactions. *Endangered Species Research*, *32*, 533-550. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00834</u>.
- Tournadre, J. (2014). Anthropogenic pressure on the open ocean: The growth of ship traffic revealed by altimeter data analysis. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 41(22), 7924–7932. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014GL061786.
- 37. Van Waerebeek, K. & Leaper, R. (2008). Second report of the IWC vessel strike data standardisation working group. *IWC Scientific Committee document SC/60/BC5*, 620. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2020.2001</u>.
- 38. Van Waerebeek, K., Baker, A., Félix, F., Gedamke, J., Iñiguez, M., Sanino, G., Secchi, E., Sutaria, D., van Helden, A., & Wang, Y. (2007). Vessel collisions with small cetaceans worldwide and with large whales in the Southern Hemisphere, an initial assessment. *Latin American Journal of Aquatic Mammals*, 6, 43-69.

https://doi.org/10.5597/lajam00109.

- 39. Vanderlaan, A., Corbett, J., Green, S., Callahan, J., Wang, C., Kenney, R., Taggart, C., & Firestone, J. (2009). Probability and mitigation of vessel encounters with North Atlantic right whales. *Endangered Species Research*, *6*, 273-285. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00176</u>.
- 40. Vanderlaan, A., Taggart, C., Serdynska, A., Kenney, R., & Brown, M. (2008). Reducing the risk of lethal encounters: vessels and right whales in the Bay of Fundy and on the Scotian Shelf. *Endangered Species Research*, *4*, 283-297.

https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00083.

- Vanderlaan, A.S.M., & Taggart, C.T. (2009), Efficacy of a Voluntary Area to Be Avoided to Reduce Risk of Lethal Vessel Strikes to Endangered Whales. *Conservation Biology*, 23(6), 1467-1474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01329.x</u>.
- Walker, T., Adebambo, O., Del, M., Feijoo, A., Elhaimer, E., Hossain, T., Johnston S., Morrison, C., Romo, J., Sharma, N., Taylor, S., & Zomorodi, S. (2018). Chapter 27 -Environmental Effects of Marine Transportation. *World Seas: An Environmental Evaluation (Second Edition)*, *3*, 505-530.

https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805052-1.00030-9.

43. Weinrich, M., Pekarcik, C., & Tackaberry, J. (2009). The effectiveness of dedicated observers in reducing risks of marine mammal collisions with ferries: A test of the technique. *Marine Mammal Science*, 26(2), 460-470.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2009.00343.x.

- Welsh, R., & Witherington, B. (2023). Spatial mapping of vulnerability hotspots: Information for mitigating vessel-strike risks to sea turtles. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 46, Article e02592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2023.e02592</u>.
- 45. Wiley, D. (2015). Whale alert: a tool for reducing collisions between ships and endangered whales. In *AAAS 2015 Annual Meeting*.
- 46. Wiley, D., Hatch, L., Schwehr, K., Thompson, M., & MacDonald, C. (2013). Marine sanctuaries and marine planning. *The Coast Guard Proceedings of the Marine Safety and Security Council*, 70, 10-15.
- 47. Wiley, D.N., Mayo, C.A., Maloney, E.M., & Moore, M.J. (2016), Vessel strike mitigation lessons from direct observations involving two collisions between noncommercial vessels and North Atlantic right whales (*Eubalaena glacialis*). *Marine Mammal Science*, *32*, 1501-1509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12326</u>.

- Work, P., Sapp, A., Scott, D., & Dodd, M. (2010). Influence of small vessel operation and propulsion system on loggerhead sea turtle injuries. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 393(1-2), 168–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2010.07.019</u>.
- 49. Zani, M., Knowlton, A., Pettis, H., Pike, E., & Kraus, S. (2005). Aerial Surveys to Reduce Ship/Whale Collisions In the North Atlantic Right Whale Calving Ground FINAL REPORT.